NATIONAL GRIEVANCE
NG-3/16/22
Date: March 16, 2022
To:

Denise Biaggi-Ayer
Executive Director
Office of Labor-Management Relations
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
810 Vermont Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20420
Denise.biaggi-ayer@va.gov
Sent via electronic mail only

From: Alec Summerfield, Staff Counsel, National Veterans Affairs Council (#53) (“NVAC”),
American Federation of Government Employees, AFL-CIO (“AFGE”)
RE:

National Grievance against the Department of Veterans Affairs for making unilateral
changes to the FECA claims process
STATEMENT OF CHARGES

Pursuant to the provisions of Article 43, Section 11 of the Master Agreement Between the
Department of Veterans Affairs and the American Federation of Government Employees (2011)
(“MCBA”), American Federation of Government Employees/National Veterans Affairs Council
(“the Union”) is filing this National Grievance against you and all other associated officials and/or
individuals acting as agents on behalf of the Agency for unilaterally implementing new
requirements concerning the submission of workers’ compensation claims under the Federal
Employees Compensation Act (“FECA”). To date, VA has failed to remedy this violation, and as
such, continues to violate policy, contract, government-wide regulations, and law.
Specifically, the VA violated, Articles 2, 3, 41, 47, 49 the MCBA, 5 U.S.C. § 8145, 20
C.F.R. §10.1, 20 C.F.R. §10.7, 20 C.F.R. §10.11, 5 U.S.C. §7116(a), Office of Workers
Compensation Programs (“OWCP”) Publication CA-810, OWCP FECA Bulletin 20-05, and any
and all other relevant articles, laws, regulations, customs, andpast practices not herein specified.
The Union specifically reserves the right to supplement this grievance based upon the discovery
of new evidence or information of which it is not presently aware, or otherwise, as necessary.
Background

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

FECA provides compensation and medical benefits to federal civilian employees for injury
or illness sustained while on duty. FECA mandates that the Office of Workers’ Compensation
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Programs (“OWCP”), a division of the United States Department of Labor, is the exclusive
administrator of federal workers’ compensation programs. The Department does not administer
workers’ compensation or make eligibility determinations. The Department is simply an
intermediary between the injured employee or their representative and the OWCP. 1 The
Department does not have the authority to alter the OWCP’s filing requirements or other DOL
policies. However, recently, the Department has unilaterally implemented a series of changes to
the manner in which workers’ compensation claims are submitted and processed. In doing so, the
Department has violated its obligations while making it more difficult for healthcare workers to
request and receive compensation and medical benefits during the COVID-19 pandemic.
Workers’ Compensation “Packets”
Beginning in or around January 2022, and on a continuing and ongoing basis, several
VISNs began requiring that employees submit “packets” of documentation above and beyond the
required forms required by OWCP when filing a workers’ compensation claim under FECA.
20 C.F.R. §10.7 requires that all FECA claims be initiated with OWCP-issued forms and
prohibits employers from modifying or substituting these forms. Moreover, the MCBA Article 41
Section 3 requires that employees initiate the workers’ compensation claims process as soon as
possible after sustaining a job-related injury or illness. To do so, employees must submit Form
CA-1 (Federal Notice of Traumatic Injury and Claim for Continuation of Pay/Compensation) for
a traumatic, work-related injury or Form CA-2 (Notice of Occupational Disease and Claim for
Compensation) for a work-related illness. The MCBA’s requirements in Article 41 are consistent
with OWCP regulations.
Nonetheless, without engaging the Union, Department representatives unilaterally started
requiring that employees submit additional documentation and forms to start a claim for workers’
compensation. These additional documents generally include: an injury packet, confirmation of
receipt, a release of information form, and a prevention of dual benefits form. None of these
documents are OWCP-issued. Conversely, the Department appears to have created these forms,
and VA representatives have incorrectly advised employees that a claim for workers’
compensation cannot and will not be initiated without this additional documentation.
For example, on January 10, 2022, VISN 8 Workers Compensation Specialist Shelia
Blackley informed an employee via email that they were required to submit a “VHA WCP
Standard Injury Packet” to start a workers compensation claim (Exhibit A). This packet included
the CA-1 or CA-2 form, and the VHA created forms listed above. The email incorrectly stated
that the claim could not be processed until the entire packet was submitted.
Likewise, on January 8, 2022, VISN 8 Workers Compensation Specialist Arnold Parker
sent a similar email to a different employee (Exhibit B). This email again requested a packet of
information including documents above and beyond the OWCP forms. The Department’s own
literature on the Employees Compensation Operation & Management Portal (“ECOMP”) is silent
Presently, the Department has elected to process workers’ compensation claims at the Veterans Integrated Service
Network (“VISN”) level.
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on any forms beyond those created by the OWCP (Exhibit C). 2 20 C.F.R. §10.1 and 20 C.F.R.
§10.11make it abundantly clear that agencies are not to alter the established claims process.
Nonetheless, the Department has unilaterally instituted roadblocks for employees attempting to
receive compensation for work-related injuries or illness.
Further, the Department never engaged in bargaining with the Union regarding these
changes in conditions of employment, specifically these additional forms purportedly “required”
as part of the workers’ compensation packets.
Designation of Representative Forms
Article 41, Section 3F of the MCBA requires that the Department notifies employees of
their right to union representation in connection with a workers’ compensation claim. However,
this right is not limited to the initiation of a claim with the CA-1 or CA-2 forms. All BUEs have a
right to union representation when filing all OWCP forms listed in Article 41, Section 3 of the
MCBA. 3 Consequently, the Department must notify BUEs of their right to representation for all
workers’ compensation claims and forms.
However, starting in December 2021, VISN 10 began using a designation of representation
form that conflicts with the MCBA (Exhibit D). The form inaccurately implies that an employee
is only entitled to union representation if they are filing a CA-1 or CA-2. As stated above, that is
not the case. VISN 10’s use of this new designation of representation form is particularly
problematic considering that the Department’s OWCP guidebook contains a template form that
does not violate the contract (Exhibit E), meaning that VISN 10 is providing a form to employees
that not only violates the MCBA but also the Department’s own internal policy.
As written, the VISN 10 form is misleading and results in employees being misinformed
about their right to union representation. At worst, it is a deliberate attempt to restrict
representation rights regarding workers’ compensation. Employees need to be informed of all their
rights. The Department cannot narrow the scope of representation in any way.
Eligibly for Workers’ Compensation Benefits Related to COVID-19
The American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (“ARPA”) created a presumption of workplace
exposure for certain federal employees who contracted COVID-19, making it easier for those
employees to request and receive certain benefits under FECA. 4 On March 5, 2021, OWCP issued
FECA Bulletin 20-05 regarding COVID-19 workers’ compensation claims. The bulletin explains
in detail the requirements and steps and documentation needed to establish a COVID-19 workers’
compensation claim. ARPA nor FECA Bulletin 20-05 prohibit employees who were masked while
on duty from filing a CA-1 form (Exhibit F). This standard is reflected in the Department’s training
materials (Exhibit G).

ECOMP is a digital platform that allows federal employees to file injury/illness claims for benefits under FECA.
These include CA-1, CA-2, CA-2A, CA-16, CA-17, CA-7, and CA-20.
4
See 5 U.S.C. § 8101 (2021) (Eligibility for Workers’ Compensation Benefits for Federal Employees Diagnosed
with COVID-19).
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Nonetheless, in or around February 2022, the Department began informing employees at
multiple VHA facilities, including Canandaigua VAMC and Bath VAMC, that they could not file
a CA-1 if they wore a mask at work (Exhibit H). The Department’s disinformation on this subject
is extremely concerning considering the Veterans Health Administration has operated under a
mask mandate since early in the pandemic. Under the Department’s logic, every VHA employee
in the country would be prohibited from applying for OWCP benefits. This position contradicts
the plain text of ARPA and the OWCP’s guidance.
Further, the Department’s position on masks and Workers’ Compensation is not only
incorrect, but it is a violation of the ARPA, OWCP regulations and guidance, and the MCBA.
Again, the Department is not empowered to make eligibility determinations regarding FECA
claims. The OWCP will determine whether the filing employee is covered under FECA. The
Department has no substantive say in this decision, and by continuing to spread misinformation
about the process for requesting workers’ compensation benefits, the Department is discouraging
employees from participating in the OWCP process and interfering with the exercise of rights
secured by FECA.
Violations
By requiring employees to submit documentation beyond form CA-1 or CA-2 to initiate a
workers’ compensation claim, the Department violated Article 41 of the MCBA, 5 U.S.C. §8145,
20 C.F.R. §10.1 20 C.F.R. §10.7, 20 C.F.R. §10.11, and OWCP Publication CA-810. Additionally,
Article 2 of the MCBA requires that the Department comply with applicable federal statutes and
regulations in the administration of matters covered by the MCBA. Therefore, in violating, 5
U.S.C. §8145, 20 C.F.R. §10.1, 20 C.F.R. §10.7, and 20 C.F.R. §10.11, the Department also
violated Article 2 of the MCBA.
By refusing to negotiate with the Union prior to implementing new workers’ compensation
form requirements constituting a change in conditions of employment, the Department committed
an unfair labor practice under 5 U.S.C. §7116(a)(5) and violated the mid-term bargaining
obligations set forth in Articles 47 and 49 of the MCBA. Further, Article 3 encourages the parties
to maintain a cooperative labor-management relationship that is based on mutual respect, open
communication, consideration of each other’s views, and minimizing collective bargaining
disputes. By failing to negotiate with the Union before requiring employees to submit additional
forms to start a workers’ compensation claim, the Department renounced its commitments under
Article 3 of the MCBA and triggered further collective bargaining disputes.
By implementing a workers’ compensation designation of representative form that
incorrectly limits an employee’s right to Union representation, the Department violated Article 41
of the MCBA, and the statutory and contractual bargaining obligations set forth above.
By incorrectly informing employees that they may not file a CA-1 if they wear a mask
while on duty and interfering with the process for filing workers’ compensation claims, the
Department violated 5 U.S.C. §8145, 20 C.F.R. §10.1 20 C.F.R. §10.7, 20 C.F.R. §10.11, and
OWCP FECA Bulletin 20-5, and OWCP Publication CA-810.
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Remedy Requested
The Union asks that to remedy the above situation, the VA agree to the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

To cease and desist the implementation of any policy or procedure implemented by the
Department stating that employees must submit forms beyond the CA-1 or CA-2 when
initiating a claim for worker’s compensation benefits;
To cease and desist the use of any designation of representation form that does not
accurately inform employees of their rights under Article 41 of the MCBA;
To cease and desist any policy or procedure that prevents, discourages, or interferes with
employees filing for workers’ compensation if they wear a mask while on duty;
To fully comply with its contractual obligations under Articles 2, 3, 35, 47, 49 of the
MCBA, its statutory obligations under, 5 U.S.C. § 8145 and 5 U.S.C. § 7116(a), and its
regulatory obligations under 20 C.F.R. §10.1, 20 C.F.R. §10.7, and 20 C.F.R. §10.1;
To distribute an electronic notice posting signed by the VA Secretary to all bargaining unit
employees, via email, concerning the Department’s unilateral implementation of changes
in conditions of employment in violation of the MCBA and federal law;
To return to status quo ante until bargaining obligations are met;
To make whole any adversely affected bargaining unit employees, including leave
restoration and/or back pay, interest, and attorney’s fees;
To comply with its obligations under federal law, regulations, and contract;
To agree to any and all other remedies appropriate in this matter.

Time Frame and Contact
This is a National Grievance, and the time frame for resolution of this matter is not waived
until the matter is resolved or settled. If you have any questions, please contact the undersigned
at AFGE Office of the General Counsel. The undersigned representative is designated to represent
the Union in all matters related to the subject of this National Grievance.

Alec Summerfield
Staff Counsel, National VA Council
Office of the General Counsel
American Federation of Government Employees, AFL-CIO
80 F Street, NW
Washington, DC 20001
tel: 202.639.6424
efax: 202.379.2928
alec.summerfield@afge.org
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cc:

Alma L. Lee, President, AFGE/NVAC
William Wetmore, Chairperson, Grievance and Arbitration Committee, AFGE/NVAC
Thomas Dargon, Jr., Supervisory Attorney, AFGE/NVAC
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EXHIBIT #

From: Parker, Arnold K. <Arnold.Parker@va.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, February 1, 2022 9:14 AM
To: Joe Mansour
>; Lapuz,
Miguel H. <Miguel.Lapuz2@va.gov>
Cc:
ames, Richard T. <Richard.James3@va.gov>
Subject: RE: Intake Packet CA-1
The intake packet contains forms for the Claimant to designate physician of choice, representation
of choice, and general information for the employee to understand their Rights and Responsibilities
under FECA during the claim process. All these forms are uploaded into the ECOMP portal for the
Department of Labor so they can be added to the case file. Hopefully this has been helpful but you
can always reach out to me or Supervisor, Tiffany Bardsley.
Thanks
From:
>
Sent: Monday, January 31, 2022 1:29 PM
To:
Lapuz, Miguel H. <Miguel.Lapuz2@va.gov>
Cc:
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: Intake Packet CA-1

; Parker, Arnold K. <Arnold.Parker@va.gov>;
James, Richard T. <Richard.James3@va.gov>

Mr. Parker
What laws requires the employee to fill all these forms prior to his case being accepted by
Dept. of Labor. Maybe you can share it with us Mr. Parker.
FECA bulletin 20-05 state the employee fill the CA-1 and provide his COVID test. That is all that is
required.
Irving we are taking these ridiculous requiems and packets to the National VA council and OSHA.
Make sure you send me the packet so we can added to the OSHA complaint and the grievance
Workers Compensation Specialist
Field Services and Education
American Federation of Government Employees
Phone: 202-322-8235
Warning: This information is general information regarding the federal workers’ compensation process, which is subject to
change, and is not intended to constitute legal advice. This message may contain confidential privileged information. Only an
intended recipient of this message is authorized to view, retain or otherwise use its contents. If you are not an intended recipient,
please so notify the sender immediately by clicking "reply," and delete this message without reading, printing or otherwise
preserving or disseminating its contents.

From:
Sent: Monday, January 31, 2022 2:03 PM
To: Parker, Arnold K. <Arnold.Parker@va.gov>
Cc:
; James, Richard T. <Richard.James3@va.gov>
Subject: RE: Intake Packet CA-1
Greetings

Mr. Parker, Oshay Morris was my previous rep and he provided a VA packet encrypted to my
personal email and I could not open it. On your email you mentioned that I received a DOL letter.
What are you referring to ?. To clarify your email, I did not enter an incorrect date of injury. I
followed all protocols in accordance with ECOMP guidelines and VA TMS training received. All forms
were uploaded to ECOMP as directed by the DOL. Mr. Parker it is my understanding that ECOMP is
the official portal used for OWCP claims with the VA and VAOWCP has access to the portal. Why is
the same information requested multiple times?
Thank you
Respectfully,
Chief Steward
AFGE LOCAL 547
From: Parker, Arnold K. <Arnold.Parker@va.gov>
Sent: Monday, January 31, 2022 10:44 AM
To:
Cc: James, Richard T. <Richard.James3@va.gov>
Subject: Intake Packet CA-1
Good day.
I am your newly reassigned HR Specialist, responsible for assisting you with your Workers’
Compensation claim. It appears you entered an incorrect Date of Injury of 1/14/2021 during your
filing. Please follow the directions in the letter you received from the Department of Labor regarding
your appeal rights in the paragraph for reconsideration. Please provide a brief statement of how the
error occurred to me or you can upload your document into the ECOMP website where you initially
filed your claim. Please feel free to contact me if you have further questions.
Please see the injury packet attached to this email for your action. You are required to complete,
sign and return to me the following documents within 24 hours:
1. Employee Notice of Rights under FECA
2. Notice of Election and Physician/Authorization for Release
3. Prevention of Dual Benefits, if applicable
4. Union Claim Notification Designation
5. Injury Packet Confirmation of Receipt
Any employee who elected Employee Health (EH) as their treating provider of record is required to
enter leave for their appointments at the facility, after the Continuation of Pay (COP) period ends. If
the EH provider has referred the employee to another specialty treatment provider, the employee is
required to enter leave for that appointment time as well. The entering leave is not just for provider
appointments, but all therapy, prosthetic, eye, wound care, nurse, etc.
**Your claim will be reviewed by DOL and they will adjudicate it and determine whether or not to
accept it.

(Virtual) Cellphone: (713) 392-3144
Fax: (727) 299-6907
email: Arnold.Parker@va.gov
TOD: CST

Monday

Tuesday

Wednesday

Thursday

Friday

Week 1

7am-430pm

7am-430pm

7am-430pm

7am-430pm

7am-330pm

Week 2

OFF

7am-430pm

7am-430pm

7am-430pm

7am-430pm

EXHIBIT C

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF LABOR
Welcome to ECOMP
ECOMP is a web-based application
accessible via the Department of
Labor’s public Internet site.
Through this portal, federal
workers and their employers may:
 Electronically file incident
reports and workers
compensation forms;

Human Resources Management Service
VISN 8 Workers’ Compensation Program

 Track the exact status of
any form or document
submitted via ECOMP and
 Electronically upload and
submit documents to
existing DFEC case files.
Please note that some OWCP
services are not a part of ECOMP
and are accessed separately.
For Medical Billing Information
including authorizations, visit:

The Employees’ Compensation
Operations & Management Portal

https://owcpconnect.dol.gov/owcp
login/
If you have questions contact your
local DFEC District Office. For a
listing of offices, visit:
http://www.dol.gov/owcp/contacts
/fecacont.htm

SUNSHINE NETWORK

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
https://ecomp.dol.gov

Filing Claim Forms
Using ECOMP
Getting Started

Filing a New Workers Compensation Claim

The Employees’ Compensation Operations
& Management Portal (ECOMP) allows
Federal employees to file injury/illness
claims for benefits under the Federal
Employees’ Compensation Act (FECA)
online. You will begin by registering with
the ECOMP web site:
https://ecomp.dol.gov

Before a Federal employee may file a form CA -1
or CA-2 via ECOMP, form OSHA 301, Injury and
Illness Incident Report, must be filed to provide
your employing agency with information
required by OSHA.

1. Click the green Sign-In/Register button
in the middle of the screen.

Once an OSHA 301 has been filed to report your
injury or illness, file a CA-1 for injury or CA-2
for occupational illness to claim FECA benefits.

2. Enter your personal information
including your name, email address,
your supervisor’s email address, and
choose your agency information.
3. Once you have completed the
registration information, click the
Create Account button.

After you have filled out all required fields in
your CA-1 or CA-2 and electronically submitted
it to your supervisor, you will be notified of your
form’s progress in ECOMP every step of the way
via email. The final email you receive will
provide you with your OWCP case number.
You can also monitor your ECOMP forms via
your claimant home page. Simply log in to your
ECOMP account.

4. Go to your email and complete your
registration by clicking the provided
link to confirm your email.

Additional help and training materials for filing
claims in ECOMP can be found here:

Providing accurate information during
registration is very important.

Filing an OSHA 301:

If you need help with the ECOMP
interface, visit:
https://ecomp.dol.gov/

https://ecomp.dol.gov/
Filing a Form CA-1 or Form CA-2:
https://ecomp.dol.gov/

Filing a Form CA-7 in ECOMP
ECOMP also allows Federal employee users to
file form CA-7 for wage loss compensation
claims via the portal. CA-7 forms may be filed
for cases created in ECOMP and for cases
created outside ECOMP.
For cases created in ECOMP, you log in to your
ECOMP account and find the CA -1 or CA-2
form for which you want to file a CA-7. Note:
you can only file a CA-7 if the form has been
created as a case by OWCP.

Click the CA-7 link in the bubble next to the
form’s listing to begin the process.
For cases created outside of ECOMP, click the
blue button at the top right-hand side of the
screen to locate an existing case and file your
CA-7.

After you have filled out all required fields in
your form CA-7 and electronically submitted it
to your supervisor, you will be notified of your
form’s progress every step of the way via
email.
Additional help and training materials for filing
CA-7 claims in ECOMP can be found here:
https://ecomp.dol.gov/
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UNION CLAIM NOTIFICATION
Do you want a representative of the Union to be notified that you have filed a workers'
compensation claim?
Do you want a representative of the Union to be provided a copy of the employee portion (page
1) of your CA-1/CA-2 claim form?

If yes, please complete the Privacy Act

Authorization and Waiver below.

PRIVACY ACT AUTHORIZATION AND WAIVER
I,

, authorize the U.S. Department of

Veterans Affairs (DVA), Workers' Compensation Office to disclose that I have filed a claim for
traumatic injury or occupational disease sustained on (insert date)
and to provide a copy of the employee portion (page 1) of my CA-1/CA-2 claim form, if
designated above, to the following individual:

Union Representative Name:

Union Address:

Printed Name:

Employee Signature:

Date

/

/

&9)*#*5&

DESIGNATION OF REPRESENTATIVE

OWCP Claim Number

Date of Injury

I,

authorize the individual listed

below to serve as my representative regarding my claim for compensation filed under
the Federal Employees’ Compensation Act.
___________________________________________________________________

I understand that my representative is authorized to act on my behalf in all matters
related to my claim for compensation.
This designation is effective on the date signed, and is effective until specifically revoked
by me in writing.
A copy of this designation shall have the same force and effect as the signed original.

Name of Claimant

Signature of Claimant

Date

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

I hereby revoke the Designation or Representation previously assigned to the
above-mentioned individual.

Signature of Claimant

Date

&9)*#*5'

FECA BULLETIN NO. 20-05
Issue Date: March 31, 2020

Subject: Federal Employees Contracting COVID-19 in Performance oF Duty
Background: The Federal Employees' Compensation Act (FECA) covers injury in the
performance of duty; injury includes a disease proximately caused by federal employment. The
U.S. Department of Labor's (DOL) Office of Workers' Compensation Programs (OWCP) Division
of Federal Employees' Compensation (DFEC) provides to an employee injured while in the
performance of duty, the services, appliances, and supplies prescribed or recommended by a
qualified physician, which OWCP considers "likely to cure, give relief, reduce the degree or the
period of disability, or aid in lessening the amount of the monthly compensation." See 5 U.S.C.
8103. FECA pays compensation for disability or death of an employee resulting from injury in
the performance of duty.
While all federal employees who contract COVID-19 related to their federal employment are
entitled to FECA coverage, special case handling considerations apply to those employees
engaged in high-risk employment. In the case of COVID-19, federal employees who are
required to have in-person and close proximity interactions with the public on a frequent basis –
such as members of law enforcement, first responders, and front-line medical and public health
personnel – will be considered to be in high-risk employment triggering the application
of Chapter 2-0805-6 of the FECA Procedure Manual. In such cases, there is an implicit
recognition of a higher likelihood of infection related to such federal employment. OWCP DFEC
recognizes that certain kinds of employment routinely present situations that may lead to
infection by contact with sneezes, droplet infection, bodily secretions, and surfaces on which
the COVID-19 virus may reside. Conditions such as COVID-19 (like the diseases covered in
Chapter 2-0805-6) more commonly represent a work hazard in health care facilities, correctional
institutions, and drug treatment centers, among others. The employment-related incidence of
COVID-19 appears more likely to occur among members of law enforcement, first responders,
and front-line medical and public health personnel, and among those whose employment
causes them to come into direct and frequent in-person and close proximity contact with the
public.
DOL has created new procedures to specifically address COVID-19 claims. Employees filing a
claim for workers' compensation coverage as a result of COVID-19 should file Form CA-1,
Federal Employee's Notice of Traumatic Injury and Claim for Continuation of Pay/Compensation.
The new procedures will also call the adjudicator's attention to the type of employment held by
the employee, rather than burdening the employee with identifying the exact day or time they
contracted the novel coronavirus.
Purpose: To provide targeted instructions to claims staff on the handling of COVID-19 FECA
claims by federal employees.
Action:

1. A special indicator has been assigned to all COVID-19 claims. The indicator is available for
input in the Employees' Compensation and Management Portal (ECOMP) or can be added by
case-create clerks where the form is received on paper or by fax. However, where the
indicator is not included (such as in cases where the agency uses its own electronic data
interchange (EDI) system or where the agency did not elect to use the indicator available in
ECOMP), claims examiners should alert their District Director that the COVID-19 indicator
must be added.
2. An OWCP DFEC COVID-19 Task Force has been created to help ensure cases are handled
expeditiously in a fair and consistent manner. The Task Force will review all COVID-19 claims
development and adjudications.
3. EXPOSURE FROM HIGH-RISK EMPLOYMENT: If a COVID-19 claim is filed by a person in
high-risk employment (by job category or otherwise confirmed by the employer1), OWCP
DFEC will accept that the exposure to COVID-19 was proximately caused by the nature of
the employment. If the employer supports the claim and that the exposure occurred, and
the CA-1 is filed within 30 days, the employee is eligible to receive Continuation of Pay for
up to 45 days.
4. EXPOSURE FROM OTHER EMPLOYMENT: If a COVID-19 claim is filed by a person whose
position is not considered high-risk, OWCP DFEC will require the claimant to provide a factual
statement and any available evidence concerning exposure. The employing agency will also
be expected to provide OWCP DFEC with any information they have regarding the alleged
exposure, and to indicate whether they are supporting or controverting the claim. If the
employer supports the claim, including that the exposure occurred, and the CA-1 is filed
within 30 days, the employee is eligible to receive Continuation of Pay for up to 45 days.
5. TESTING: The results of any COVID-19 testing should be submitted to OWCP if available. If
the employee has encountered difficulty in obtaining such testing, OWCP will authorize such
testing if the employee is working in high-risk employment or otherwise has a confirmed
COVID-19 employment exposure.
6. MEDICAL: Medical evidence establishing a diagnosis of COVID-19 is needed. You will need to
provide medical evidence establishing that the diagnosed COVID-19 was aggravated,
accelerated, precipitated, or directly caused by your work-related activities. For health and
safety reasons, claimants may wish to use telehealth to obtain medical evidence from a
qualified physician – OWCP encourages this flexibility.
7. CAUSAL RELATIONSHIP: Establishing causal relationship generally requires a qualified
physician's opinion, based on a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that the diagnosed
condition is causally related to employment conditions. This opinion must be based on a
complete factual and medical background. In the case of high-risk employment, the factual
and medical background would include the physician's recognition that the employee is
engaged in high-risk employment that included exposure to COVID-19 while in federal
employment. See D.M. (T.M.) Docket No. 19-0358 (issued March 19, 2020) (ECAB found the
employee's death due to meningococcemia was causally related to her high-risk employment
as a nurse at the employing establishment, as her employment routinely presented

situations which could lead to infection by contact with human blood, bodily secretions, and
other substances.)
8. USE OF THE DISTRICT MEDICAL ADVISOR (DMA): In the case of high-risk employment
where testing establishes a diagnosis of COVID-19 but no physician's signature is on file
following appropriate development, the CE may use the DMA to establish the diagnosis and
provide the above-referenced recognition that the employee is engaged in high-risk
employment that included exposure to COVID-19 while in federal employment.
9. DISABILITY: FECA pays compensation for partial or total disability of an employee resulting
from injury in the performance of duty. Just as with other conditions/claims, disability is
claimed by the filing of a CA-7, Claim for Compensation, with the employing agency and
requires an incapacity because of an employment-related injury to earn wages.

EXHIBIT G

VA

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
Office of Human Resources and Administration

Workers’ Compensation COVID-19
Claims and the American Rescue Plan
Act of 2021
Occupational Safety and Health (OSH)
January 2022

Federal Employees’ Compensation Act
(FECA)
Department of Labor, Office of Workers’ Compensation
Programs (OWCP):
• Administrator of all federal workers’ compensation
programs
• Sole adjudicator of claims for benefits and manages
ongoing cases
• Issued special guidance on handling COVID-19 claims.

VA

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
Office of Human Resources and Administration

American Rescue Plan Act of 2021
• On March 11, 2021, the American Rescue Plan Act of
2021 (ARPA) was signed into law.
• Streamlines the process for federal workers diagnosed
with COVID-19.
• Establishes coverage under the FECA for “covered
employees” with COVID-19 as deemed proximately
caused by employment.
• COVID-19 vaccine claims are not included in ARPA

VA

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
Office of Human Resources and Administration
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General Provisions of FECA
Injured employees may be entitled to the following under
FECA:
• Medical Care
• Continuation of Pay (COP)
• Compensation for Loss Wages
• Survivor Benefits

VA

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
Office of Human Resources and Administration

Who is A Covered Employee?
A “covered employee” means an individual who is:
•

•
•

Employed in the Federal service as defined by 5 USC,
Section 8101(1)
Diagnosed with COVID–19 during his/her employment
Who duties require contact with patients, members of the
public, or co-workers; or include a risk of exposure to the
novel coronavirus.

VA

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
Office of Human Resources and Administration
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What is a Covered Exposures?
•

Covered Exposure. The interaction does not have to be direct physical
contact or for a specified time.
o General office contact and interaction is sufficient.
o Includes shared workspaces (i.e. lunchrooms, break areas and common
restrooms.)

•

Covered Exposure Period. COVID-19 symptoms or positive test result within
21 days of a covered exposure

•

Teleworking Employees. An employee that is exclusively teleworking is not
considered a “covered employee” under the ARPA.

VA
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Initial Claim Filing
•

The Department of Labor’s Office of Workers’ Compensation (OWCP)
considers COVID-19 to be considered a CA-1, Traumatic Injury Claim

•

Cases not expected to have large medical or extended disability may be
administratively closed without formal adjudication.

•

Cases in an administrative closure status are entitled to:
o Medical benefits up to $1,500

o Continuation of Pay (COP), if eligible.
o Compensation or Leave Buy Back
•

Claims exceeding $1,500 in medical bills or a claims where for
compensation is made will be formally adjudicated for entitlement to
additional benefits.

VA
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How Should An Employee File?
• Electronic claim filing in ECOMP https://www.ecomp.dol.gov
• Available 24 hours per day
• Able to file from any personal device with internet access or VA
issued computer
• Employees must:
o Register and create an ECOMP account
o Select the correct organizational facility
o Ensure their supervisor’s email address is accurate
• Tutorials and instructional videos are available in ECOMP

VA

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
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Why File In ECOMP?
• Immediate notification of a work incident to supervisor
and workers’ compensation personnel
• Expedited transmittal of OWCP claims
• Employees can track their claim in ECOMP
• COVID-19 Indicator

VA

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
Office of Human Resources and Administration

Employee Responsibilities
• Submit medical evidence within 10 calendar days
• Provide updated documentation after each medical
appointment
• Follow leave policy and procedures

VA

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
Office of Human Resources and Administration

Establishing a Diagnosis
In order to establish a diagnosis of COVID-19, an employee
(or survivor) should submit:
a. A positive Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) COVID-19 or Antigen test
result; or
b. A positive Antibody test result, together with contemporaneous medical
evidence that the claimant had documented symptoms of and/or was treated
for COVID-19 by a physician
c. If no positive laboratory test is available, a COVID-19 diagnosis from a
physician together with rationalized medical opinion supporting the diagnosis
and an explanation as to why a positive test result is not available.

VA

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
Office of Human Resources and Administration

11

Previously Denied Cases
•

The Department of Labor’s Office of Workers’ Compensation (OWCP) will
review all COVID-19 claims denied by OWCP prior to March 11, 2021 based
on a lack of federal exposure or a lack of medical evidence establishing
causal relationship to determine if the claim can now be accepted under the
ARPA.
o Claims denied by OWCP Prior to March 11, 2021, will be reviewed by
OWCP; this will occur without a request from the claimant.
o If OWCP determines that the case can now be accepted under the ARPA,
the case will be reopened by OWCP and the status changed to accepted.
o The claimant and Employing agency will be notified of the acceptance of
the claim.

VA
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Death Claims
•

The criteria for determining whether COVID-19 is considered proximately
caused by federal employment is the same for claims involving death.

•

In death cases, OWCP will also ask for evidence and records to support that
the death was the result of COVID-19, or that COVID-19 was a contributing
cause of death.

•

When OWCP is notified of a death by Form CA-6, OWCP sends survivor
Form CA-5 or CA-5b to claim benefits. The claim will be administratively
closed if no response is received.

•

Need for partnership in identifying employee COVID-19 related deaths.

VA

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
Office of Human Resources and Administration

13

Additional Information
• Case Specific
Local Workers’ Compensation Specialist
Administration Program Manager
• General Policy Questions (No PII)
OSH Email Address: vaworkerscomp@va.gov

VA
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Resources
Federal Employees’ Compensation Act (FECA)
20 CFR, Part 10
5 USC, Chapter 81
The American Rescue Plan Act of 2021
FECA Bulletin 21-09 - Processing FECA Claims for COVID-19
FECA Bulletin 21-10 – Establish FECA Claim for COVID-19 Under the
ARPA of 2021 through Antigen Testing

VA
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Questions?
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EXHIBIT H

From:
Sent: Friday, February 11, 2022 1:33 PM
To: Edlen, Jason (VCL CAN) <Jason.Edlen@va.gov>
Cc: Orlowski, Ronnie <Ronnie.Orlowski@va.gov>; Andy Mapes <local3306@gmail.com>
Subject: Cease & Desist - VIolation of 18 USC 1922
Importance: High
Jason:
I am writing you directly because I know you went to HR and this needs to get to your
leadership fast. I’ve not even talked to Ronnie about this yet; the matter is THAT
urgent.
I just got off the phone with our National office in D.C. They have received numerous
complaints from Bath & Canandaigua saying that the Agency (reportedly the employee
health clinic, amongst others) is telling Employees that if they were fully masked they
did not catch COVID at work and cannot file CA-1. THIS NEEDS TO STOP
IMMEDIATELY. It is a violation of Federal law to interfere with Employees’ right to
file CA-1 with DOL, and President Biden has directed that Federal Employees are
presumed to have been exposed at work.
The intent of the call was to inform me that criminal charges against the Agency would
be resulting from this situation. I asked them to give me the opportunity to address
this first so that the Agency can cease its unlawful behavior. I cannot emphasize
enough how important it is that the Agency stop interfering with the Employees’ rights
in regard to COVID and workers’ compensation.
Please take all actions available to get this resolved ASAP. I need to report back early
next week.
Thank you.
National Representative
AFGE District 2
Call or text 315-486-0704
Fax 315-222-7424
Email robin.johnson@afge.org
District 2 – Standing Strong for
YOU!

